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United States Court of Appeals, 
Eleventh Circuit. 

Kyle EDWARDS, Diane George, Ryan Cade, Kam-
eron Battles, Kelly Key, individually, collectively 

and on behalf of a class of similarly-situated employ-
ees, Terrence Forman, Jimmy D. Lincoln, Plaintiffs-

Appellants, 
v. 

PRIME, INC., d.b.a. Ruth's Chris Steak House, 
Markham Oswald, Jesus Molina, an individual which 
may or may not be his real name, Ruth's Hospitality 

Group Inc., Defendants-Appellees, 
Ruth's Chris Steak House, Inc., themselves and on 
behalf of a class of defendants that operate restau-

rants named “Ruth's Chris Steak House,” Defendant. 
 

No. 09-11699. 
April 9, 2010. 

 
 
CARNES, Circuit Judge: 

Ruth's Hospitality Group, the parent company of 
Ruth's Chris Steak House, is proud of its origins. The 
company boasts that forty-five years after its founder, 
Ruth Fertel, mortgaged her home to purchase her first 
restaurant, it has grown into a chain of more than 120 
steakhouse restaurants in seven countries. Though it 
has become an international operation, the company 
insists that “our success continues to be driven by our 
adherence to Ruth's core values.”FN1 Ruth Fertel “un-
derstood the value of each and every employee's con-
tribution to her success,” and that is why the business 
continues to be a place “where respect, integrity and 
pride are a way of life.”FN2 Not only that but the 
company*1284 “continues to value the unique differ-
ences of each and every team member.”FN3 Or so it 
says. 
 

FN1. Ruth's Hospitality Group, Corporate 
Overview, http:// phx. corporate- ir. net/ 
phoenix. zhtml? c= 190038& p= irol- home 
Profile (last visited Apr. 1, 2010). 

 
FN2. Ruth's Hospitality Group, Employ-
ment, http:// www. ruthschris. com/ Careers 

(last visited Apr. 1, 2010). 
 

FN3. Id. 
 

The seven former employees of one Ruth's Chris 
Steak House franchise who are the plaintiffs in this 
lawsuit not only beg to differ but also have pleaded to 
the contrary, at least insofar as the franchise where 
they worked is concerned. According to their allega-
tions, that particular franchise had the core values of 
a criminal enterprise and provided anything but an 
atmosphere of respect, integrity, and pride for its em-
ployees. More specifically, they allege that the Ruth's 
Chris Steak House in Birmingham, Alabama, know-
ingly provided illegal aliens with names and social 
security numbers of American citizens to use for ille-
gal employment, unlawfully took employees' tips, 
discriminated on the basis of race, and retaliated 
against employees who challenged those and other 
practices. 
 

Those allegations are contained in an amended 
complaint that asserts claims based on the Racketeer 
Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, the Fair 
Labor Standards Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1981, and Alabama 
common law. The district court dismissed four of the 
fifteen counts in the amended complaint under 
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) and certi-
fied those rulings as partial final judgments under 
Rule 54(b). The plaintiffs have appealed those four 
rulings, and they have attempted to appeal a number 
of others that were not certified for interlocutory ap-
peal. Our decision, like the complaint and the district 
court's judgment, is a mixed bag. We end up revers-
ing the district court's judgment with respect to the 
RICO claim, affirming the judgment insofar as it 
includes the other claims that were certified to us 
under Rule 54(b), and dismissing for lack of jurisdic-
tion the attempted appeal of the rulings that were not 
certified to us. 
 

I. 
This case, as we indicated, involves allegations 

brought by former employees of Ruth's Chris Steak 
House in Birmingham, Alabama, against the restau-
rant and its owner, operator, and franchisor. More 
particularly the defendants are Prime, Inc., a Ruth's 
Chris franchisee that owns and operates the restaurant 
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where the plaintiffs worked; Mark Oswald, who 
owns and manages Prime; and Ruth's Chris Steak 
House, Inc.,FN4 which franchises Ruth's Chris restau-
rants. 
 

FN4. Ruth's Chris Steak House, Inc. 
changed its name to Ruth's Hospitality 
Group before this lawsuit was filed. 

 
At this stage we must and do assume that any 

well-pleaded allegations in the amended complaint 
are true. What we state as facts in this part of the 
opinion have not been established as facts in anything 
other than the pleading sense. They may or may not 
turn out to be actual facts. Count 1 claims that the 
defendants engaged in a pattern of racketeering activ-
ity in violation of the Racketeer Influenced and Cor-
rupt Organizations Act, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961-1968.FN5 
The federal crime that is said to trigger RICO liability 
is a criminal enterprise to violate federal immigration 
laws. Prime knowingly hired and employed illegal 
aliens, allowed them to work under the names of 
former Ruth's Chris employees who were United 
States citizens, and provided them with the former 
employees' social security numbers. In addition, the 
defendants gave the illegal aliens more time than 
federal law permits *1285 to produce paperwork es-
tablishing their eligibility to work in this country and 
sometimes did not require the illegal aliens ever to 
produce the paperwork. To fill open positions, 
Prime's management asked the illegal aliens em-
ployed in the restaurant whether they knew of any 
other illegal aliens who were interested in working 
there. Prime paid illegal aliens in cash and preferred 
them over United States citizens. As part of the ille-
gal enterprise the company also provided illegal ali-
ens with name tags showing names other than their 
own. 
 

FN5. For Count 1, the plaintiffs seek Rule 
23 certification as class representatives su-
ing on behalf of similarly-situated past and 
present hourly-wage employees who were 
employed at Prime's franchise restaurants 
operated as Ruth's Chris Steak House. 

 
Counts 2-6 claim that the defendants violated the 

Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. §§ 201-219, 
primarily by unlawfully taking and keeping plaintiffs' 
tips for their own profit.FN6 Because Prime paid the 
plaintiffs as “tipped employees,” it claimed a “tip 

credit” and paid them an hourly wage below the 
minimum wage that otherwise would have applied. 
As a standard practice Prime withheld a percentage 
of servers' tips, and a portion of that money was paid 
to “the house.” The rest was placed into a “tip pool,” 
which Prime used to pay other employees, including 
some who were not eligible to participate in the tip 
pool. When a manager or supervisor believed that a 
customer had tipped an employee too much, the man-
ager or supervisor persuaded the customer to reduce 
the amount of the tip to the employee or not to tip at 
all. Those practices, it is claimed, rendered defen-
dants' use of the tip credit unlawful under the FLSA, 
requiring them to pay direct wages for the full mini-
mum wage and to return the tips. 
 

FN6. Counts 2-6 were brought on behalf of 
all the plaintiffs, except for Diane George, 
and on behalf of other “similarly-situated 
employees.” 

 
Prime also required the plaintiffs to perform ex-

cessive non-serving tasks and duties. Managers and 
supervisors occasionally “clocked out” the plaintiffs 
even though they were still working. In some in-
stances, managers and supervisors docked plaintiffs' 
hours. Prime also did not keep accurate records of the 
amount of time employees worked. For the violations 
claimed in Counts 2-6, the plaintiffs request injunc-
tive and declaratory relief, all unlawfully taken tips, 
lost minimum and overtime wages, liquidated dam-
ages matching the amount of lost tips and wages, and 
reasonable attorney's fees. 
 

The next two claims in the amended complaint 
assert violations of Alabama state law.FN7 Count 7 
claims that Prime and Oswald intentionally interfered 
with two business relationships. One of those rela-
tionships was between Prime's employees and the 
patrons who dine at the restaurant. Prime and Oswald 
knew about the business relationship in which “em-
ployees give patrons excellent service with the expec-
tation they will be rewarded for such service by get-
ting tips and greater tips from patrons, and patrons so 
reward and pay servers, some of which gets dispersed 
to other employees via a ‘tip pool.’ ” The other rela-
tionship was among Prime's employees who contrib-
ute to or receive money from the tip pool. Prime and 
Oswald intentionally interfered with those business 
and contractual relations “by taking amounts of 
money” from the plaintiffs “based on such gratuities 
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paid to servers regardless of whether Defendants 
otherwise complied with the FLSA in compensating 
employees.” Count 8 alleges that the same conduct 
constituted conversion under state law. Count 7 and 
Count 8 both seek relief in the form of compensatory 
and punitive damages. 
 

FN7. Counts 7 and 8 are brought by all the 
individual plaintiffs, except for Diane 
George. 

 
The final seven counts of the amended complaint 

involve individual claims of unlawful*1286 discrimi-
nation or retaliation. Only a few of them are relevant 
to this appeal.FN8 One of the claims that is relevant is 
Count 12, in which Kyle Edwards, a Caucasian, al-
leges that Prime subjected him to a hostile work envi-
ronment on the basis of his race, in violation of § 
1981. While working at Ruth's Chris, Edwards was 
targeted by Hispanic and Latino employees who re-
peatedly threatened him at the restaurant. One em-
ployee cursed Edwards and threatened to cut his 
throat. He complained to Prime's management about 
the hostile work environment, but they failed to take 
any action “because Prime disfavored Caucasian Ed-
wards in favor of its Hispanic and Latino employees 
and did not want to upset them out of fear of disrupt-
ing its supply of cheap illegal labor.” In addition to 
being threatened, Edwards was also shunned. One 
Hispanic employee threatened Edwards, telling him 
that it was “going to be bad” for the person who was 
complaining about Prime's employment of illegal 
aliens. 
 

FN8. The following claims are not at issue 
in this appeal: In Count 9 Diane George, an 
African American, alleges that Prime vio-
lated § 1981 by subjecting her to a hostile 
work environment on the basis of her race. 
In Count 10 Kameron Battles, an African 
American, alleges that Prime violated § 
1981 by denying him job positions and 
shifts on the basis of his race. Battles alleges 
in Count 11 that Prime and Oswald violated 
§ 1981 and the FLSA by retaliating against 
him for filing this action. In Count 15 Kelly 
Key alleges that Prime violated Alabama 
Code § 25-5-11.1 by retaliating against her 
for filing a workers' compensation claim 
with Prime. 

 

Count 13 involves Edwards' claim of retaliation 
by the defendants, a claim that he brought on behalf 
of himself and other similarly-situated employees. In 
February 2008, Edwards' attorney gave the general 
manager of the Birmingham restaurant a copy of the 
complaint he intended to file in this lawsuit. After 
that, Edwards was subjected to added scrutiny at 
work, and the defendants took “no effective action to 
prevent ... Edwards' hostile work environment includ-
ing another employee's additional threat to Edwards 
after [he] had complained about a threat.” Manage-
ment also reduced his hours and did not allow him to 
participate in Prime's retirement plan. In order to de-
crease Edwards' pay and cover up the fact that it was 
withholding for “the house” a portion of servers' tips, 
Prime started referring to the withheld percentage as 
a service charge on the tip reports filled out by ban-
quet servers. Edwards claims that amounted to re-
taliation that violates the FLSA and § 1981, and he 
seeks several different forms of relief, including pu-
nitive damages. 
 

Finally, Count 14 is Kelly Key's claim of retalia-
tion against Prime. Shortly after this lawsuit was 
filed, Prime terminated Key's health care benefits and 
then fired her. She contends that action violated the 
FLSA and § 1981, and she seeks several different 
forms of relief, including punitive damages. 
 

II. 
In February 2009, the defendants moved to dis-

miss part of the amended complaint, which the dis-
trict court took up at a motion docket. The plaintiffs 
contend that at the motion docket the district court 
judge informed all parties present that he was no 
longer accepting cases, like this one, with Rule 23 
allegations. Plaintiffs assert that when cases with 
Rule 23 allegations were called at the motion docket, 
the district court judge gave counsel for the plaintiffs 
in those cases the option of either withdrawing their 
clients' Rule 23 allegations or having the case reas-
signed to another judge. Plaintiffs assert that they 
were not given that choice even though their case 
includes Rule 23 allegations. Three days after the 
motion docket, plaintiffs filed a *1287 motion for 
reassignment, which was denied on February 23, 
2009. 
 

In response to the defendants' motion to dismiss, 
the district court issued an order and accompanying 
memorandum opinion in March 2009. See Edwards 
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v. Prime, Inc., No. 08-1016 (N.D.Ala. Mar. 4, 
2009).FN9 The court dismissed with prejudice Counts 
1, 7, 8, and 12 of the amended complaint. It deter-
mined that Count 1, the RICO claim, failed to suffi-
ciently allege that the defendants had engaged in a 
pattern of racketeering activity. The court concluded 
that the state law tort claims in Counts 7 and 8 were 
preempted by the FLSA. It also decided that Ed-
wards' § 1981 hostile work environment claim, which 
is Count 12, failed to allege that he was discriminated 
against because of his race. 
 

FN9. The district court's March 4, 2009 
memorandum opinion incorporates by refer-
ence several parts of the court's earlier opin-
ion, which had addressed the original com-
plaint. See Edwards v. Prime, Inc., No. 08-
1016 (N.D.Ala. Dec. 11, 2008). 

 
The district court also dismissed with prejudice 

Counts 2-6, but only to the extent that they request 
declaratory and injunctive relief. The court concluded 
that the remedial provisions of the FLSA do not pro-
vide for equitable relief. The district court also dis-
missed with prejudice Counts 13-14, but only to the 
extent that Edwards and Key requested punitive dam-
ages, which the court found to be unavailable under 
29 U.S.C. § 215. 
 

In its March 4, 2009 order accompanying the 
memorandum opinion, the district court stated: 
 

Pursuant to Rule 54(b), F.R.Civ.P., the court ex-
pressly determines that there is no just reason for 
delay in the entry of final judgment against plain-
tiffs as to the claims contained in Counts I, VII, 
VIII, and XII. Accordingly, the Clerk is DI-
RECTED to enter final judgment against plaintiffs 
as to all said claims. 

 
Those four counts are the only ones against 

which final judgment was entered. 
 

In their notice of appeal the plaintiffs stated that 
they sought reversal of the district court's March 4, 
2009 order, as well as “all the District Court's deci-
sions subsumed by that order, including without limi-
tation, those in the District Court's Memorandum 
Opinion also entered on March 4, 2009 that accom-
panied said Order, and the District Court's Order en-
tered on February 23, 2009 denying Plaintiff's Mo-

tion for Re-assignment of this action.” In their briefs 
to this Court the plaintiffs assert six contentions. 
They contend that the district court: (1) should not 
have dismissed Count 1, because it properly alleges a 
RICO claim arising from the defendants' hiring and 
employment of illegal aliens; (2) should not have 
dismissed Counts 7 and 8, because those state law 
tort claims are not preempted by the FLSA; (3) 
should not have dismissed Edwards' claim of racial 
discrimination under § 1981, because Count 12 did 
allege that Edwards was discriminated against “on 
the basis of his race”; (4) should not have rejected 
their claims for declaratory and injunctive relief un-
der Counts 2-6, their primary FLSA claims, because 
that type of relief is available for those claims; (5) 
should not have ruled out punitive damages under 
Counts 13 and 14, which allege violations of the 
FLSA's anti-retaliation provision; and (6) should not 
have denied their motion to reassign the case to an-
other judge, because that denial violated their proce-
dural due process right to be treated the same as the 
plaintiffs in other cases containing class action alle-
gations. 

* * * * 
V. 

We begin by applying those standards to Count 
1, the RICO claim. Under 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), it is 
illegal “for any person employed by or associated 
with any enterprise engaged in, or the activities of 
which affect, interstate or foreign commerce, to con-
duct or participate, directly or indirectly, in the con-
duct of such enterprise's affairs through a pattern of 
racketeering activity.” 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c). “[T]o 
establish a federal civil RICO violation under § 
1962(c), the plaintiffs must satisfy four elements of 
proof: (1) conduct (2) of an enterprise (3) through a 
pattern *1292 (4) of racketeering activity.” Williams 
v. Mohawk Indus., Inc., 465 F.3d 1277, 1282 (11th 
Cir.2006) (internal quotation marks omitted); see also 
Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co., Inc., 473 U.S. 479, 
496, 105 S.Ct. 3275, 3285, 87 L.Ed.2d 346 
(1985).FN12 
 

FN12. Although not at issue in this appeal, 
civil RICO plaintiffs must also satisfy the 
requirements of 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c). That 
provision provides “that ‘[a]ny person in-
jured in his business or property by reason 
of’ RICO's substantive provisions has the 
right to ‘recover threefold the damages he 
sustains....' ” Mohawk, 465 F.3d at 1282 
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(quoting 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c)) (alterations 
added by Mohawk). “Thus, under § 1964(c), 
civil RICO claimants, such as the plaintiffs 
here, must show (1) the requisite injury to 
‘business or property,’ and (2) that such in-
jury was ‘by reason of’ the substantive 
RICO violation.” Id. at 1282-83. 

 
 “An act of racketeering is commonly referred to 

as a ‘predicate act.’ ” Mohawk, 465 F.3d at 1283 
(quoting Maiz v. Virani, 253 F.3d 641, 671 (11th 
Cir.2001)). “A ‘pattern’ of racketeering activity”-a 
combination of elements 3 and 4-“is shown when a 
racketeer commits at least two distinct but related 
predicate acts.” Id. “ ‘If distinct statutory violations 
are found, the predicate acts will be considered to be 
distinct irrespective of the circumstances under which 
they arose.’ ” Id. (quoting Cox v. Adm'r U.S. Steel & 
Carnegie, 17 F.3d 1386, 1397 (11th Cir.1994), modi-
fied on other grounds by 30 F.3d 1347 (11th 
Cir.1994)). 
 

Under RICO the term “racketeering activity” in-
cludes, among other things, any violation of section 
274 of the Immigration and Nationality Act, provided 
that the act was committed for financial gain. 18 
U.S.C. § 1961(1)(F); see Mohawk, 465 F.3d at 1283. 
In this case the plaintiffs allege that the defendants 
engaged in “racketeering activity” by violating sev-
eral provisions of INA § 274, which is codified at 8 
U.S.C. § 1324, and that they did so for financial gain. 
Specifically, the plaintiffs allege that the defendants 
violated: (1) 8 U.S.C. § 1324(a)(3)(A), which makes 
it a federal crime for any person to “knowingly hire[ ] 
for employment at least 10 individuals with actual 
knowledge that the individuals are [illegal] aliens” 
during a 12-month period; (2) 8 U.S.C. § 
1324(a)(1)(A)(iv), which makes it a federal crime for 
any person to “encourage[ ] or induce[ ] an alien to 
come to, enter, or reside in the United States, know-
ing or in reckless disregard of the fact that such com-
ing to, entry, or residence is or will be in violation of 
law”; (3) 8 U.S.C. § 1324(a)(1)(A)(iii), which makes 
it a federal crime for any person to knowingly or 
recklessly “conceal[ ], harbor[ ], or shield[ ] from 
detection, or attempt[ ] to conceal, harbor or shield 
from detection” an alien who “has come to, entered, 
or remains in the United States” illegally; and (4) 8 
U.S.C. § 1324(a)(1)(A)(v), which makes it a federal 
crime for any person to conspire to commit, or to aid 
and abet, any violation of § 1324(a)(1)(A)(i)-(iv). 

According to the amended complaint, the defendants 
have committed “tens and scores if not hundreds,” of 
these predicate acts. We will address in turn each of 
those four statutory theories of predicate acts. 
 

A. 
Section 1324(a)(3)(A) provides: “Any person 

who, during any 12-month period, knowingly hires 
for employment at least 10 individuals with actual 
knowledge that the individuals are aliens described in 
[§ 1324(a)(3)(B)] shall be fined under Title 18 or 
imprisoned for not more than 5 years, or both.” 8 
U.S.C. § 1324(a)(3)(A). The term “alien” refers to (1) 
“an unauthorized alien,” as defined in § 1324a(h)(3), 
who (2) “has been brought into the United States in 
violation of [§ 1324(a)].” See 8 U.S.C. § 
1324(a)(3)(B).FN13 
 

FN13. Section 1324a(h)(3) defines an unau-
thorized alien, “with respect to the employ-
ment of an alien at a particular time,” as an 
“alien [who] is not at that time either (A) an 
alien lawfully admitted for permanent resi-
dence, or (B) authorized to be so employed 
by this chapter or by the Attorney General.” 
8 U.S.C. § 1324a(h)(3). 

 
*1293 Thus, an element of § 1324(a)(3)(A) is 

that the defendant had actual knowledge that the ille-
gal aliens who were hired had been brought into the 
country in violation of § 1324(a). See Commercial 
Cleaning Servs., L.L.C. v. Colin Serv. Sys., Inc., 271 
F.3d 374, 387 (2d Cir.2001); Nichols v. Mahoney, 
608 F.Supp.2d 526, 534 (S.D.N.Y.2009) (“If the em-
ployer does not know that at least 10 of its illegal 
hires were ‘brought into’ the country by some third 
party (as opposed to walking across the border them-
selves, or arriving on a visitor's or student visa and 
overstaying their welcome), then it has not commit-
ted a RICO predicate act by hiring them....”). 
 

That “brought into” element makes § 
1324(a)(3)(A) different from § 1324a(a)(1)(A), 
which also addresses the hiring of illegal aliens. See 
Nichols, 608 F.Supp.2d at 534 (comparing the two 
provisions). FN14 While both provisions make it illegal 
for a person or other entity to hire an alien knowing 
that he is not authorized to work in this country, § 
1324(a)(3)(A) has the added element of knowledge 
that the alien was brought into the country illegally. 
That added element makes a difference when it 



  
 

Page 6 

602 F.3d 1276, 108 Fair Empl.Prac.Cas. (BNA) 1749, RICO Bus.Disp.Guide 11,835, 15 Wage & Hour Cas.2d 
(BNA) 1862, 22 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C 688 
(Cite as: 602 F.3d 1276) 

 

comes to the penalty. See id. If an employer hires 10 
or more illegal aliens with knowledge that they are 
unauthorized aliens who have been illegally brought 
into this country, § 1324(a)(3)(A) applies and the 
employer may be fined, sentenced to as much as 5 
years in prison, or both. And that crime would be a 
RICO predicate act. See 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1)(F). By 
contrast, if an employer knowingly hires aliens not 
authorized to work in this country, without knowl-
edge that they were brought into this country ille-
gally, only § 1324a would be violated. For a violation 
of § 1324a only civil penalties are available, unless 
there is a “pattern or practice” in which case a con-
viction may result in a fine and a sentence of up to 
six months. See 8 U.S.C. § 1324a(f)(1). And that 
crime would not be a RICO predicate act. See 18 
U.S.C. § 1961(1)(F); see also United States v. Zheng, 
306 F.3d 1080, 1085 (11th Cir.2002) (“The criminal 
sanctions prescribed for a violation of § 1324a are 
much less stringent than those prescribed for a viola-
tion of § 1324.”). 
 

FN14. Section 1324a(a)(1)(A), among other 
things, makes it illegal for a person or other 
entity “to hire ... for employment in the 
United States an alien knowing the alien is 
an unauthorized alien (as defined in [§ 
1324a(h)(3)]) with respect to such employ-
ment.” See § 1324a(a)(1)(A). 

 
The differences between §§ 1324(a)(3)(A) and 

1324a(a)(1)(A) suggest that Congress found the 
combination of bringing illegal aliens into this coun-
try and hiring them to be a far more serious problem 
than hiring aliens who were here illegally but had not 
been brought here. Congress obviously sought not 
only to deter employers from directly joining forces 
with those who bring in illegal aliens but also to pre-
vent employers from encouraging the practice by 
hiring aliens knowing that they had been brought in 
illegally. 
 

 The district court concluded that the plaintiffs 
had failed to plead that Prime or any of its employees 
had actual knowledge that the unauthorized aliens 
whom they hired had been “brought into the United 
States” in violation of § 1324. The plaintiffs contend 
that they have pleaded enough because they allege 
that Prime “repeatedly violated and continues to vio-
late 8 U.S.C. § 1324(a)(3)(A), which makes it a fed-
eral crime to knowingly hire for employment at least 

10 individuals with *1294 actual knowledge that the 
individuals are aliens during a twelve month period.” 
Am. Complaint ¶ 36 (quotation marks omitted). They 
argue that a similar allegation was held to be suffi-
cient in Williams v. Mohawk Indus. Inc., 465 F.3d 
1277, 1281-82 (11th Cir.2006), and should be suffi-
cient here. We are unpersuaded. 
 

The complaint in Mohawk, unlike the one in this 
case, specifically alleged that the defendant had hired 
illegal aliens knowing that those workers were 
“smuggled or otherwise brought” into the United 
States illegally. Williams v. Mohawk Indus., Inc., 314 
F.Supp.2d 1333, 1346 (N.D.Ga.2004), aff'd in part, 
rev'd in part on other grounds by 465 F.3d 1277 
(11th Cir.2006). Here, by contrast, the plaintiffs have 
never alleged that any of the defendants knew the 
aliens who were hired had been illegally brought into 
the United States. The closest the plaintiffs come is 
their allegation that “Prime hired and allowed em-
ployees to remain employees despite the fact that ... 
they were known by Prime's management as unau-
thorized or ineligible to work or even be in this 
Country.” Am. Complaint ¶ 26 (emphasis added). 
Perhaps that allegation “gets the [§ 1324(a)(3)(A)] 
complaint close to stating a claim, but without some 
further factual enhancement it stops short of the line 
between possibility and plausibility of entitlement to 
relief.” Twombly, 550 U.S. at 557, 127 S.Ct. at 1966 
(quotation marks omitted). An employer may know 
that it hired illegal aliens without knowing how they 
made their way into the United States. As the district 
court recognized in this case, “Individuals who enter 
this country legally may overstay their welcome and 
become unauthorized to work without ever having 
been brought in illegally, whether by others or by 
themselves.” Edwards v. Prime, Inc., No. 08-1016, at 
12 (N.D.Ala. Mar. 4, 2009). Likewise, they may have 
entered this country illegally on their own instead of 
having been “brought into” it. See Nichols, 608 
F.Supp.2d at 534 noting that some illegal hires 
“walk[ ] across the border themselves, or arriv[e] on 
a visitor's or student visa and overstay[ ] their wel-
come”). Because the “brought into” element is essen-
tial to § 1324(a)(3)(A), plaintiffs who do not allege it 
have not alleged a predicate act under that provision. 
They may have alleged a violation of § 
1324a(a)(1)(A), but that is not a predicate act for 
RICO purposes. 
 

Although in some cases a plaintiff who fails to 
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allege the “brought into” element necessary for a § 
1324(a)(3)(A) violation might be entitled to a second 
chance to plead it, see Commercial Cleaning Servs., 
271 F.3d at 387 & n. 5, these plaintiffs have already 
had their second chance. In dismissing without preju-
dice the RICO claim made by the plaintiffs in their 
original complaint, the district court stressed the 
plaintiffs' failure to allege the “brought into” element 
of § 1324(a)(3)(A). In drafting their amended com-
plaint, the plaintiffs had an opportunity to fix the 
problem, assuming they were able to do so without 
violating Rule 11. Because they did not fix it, they 
have failed to plead a violation of § 1324(a)(3)(A) 
and so cannot establish a predicate act that way. 
 

B. 
The plaintiffs have more predicate act success 

with their allegations that the defendants violated § 
1324(a)(1)(A)(iv), the elements of which are: “(1) 
encouraging or inducing; (2) an alien; (3) to come to, 
enter, or reside in the United States; and (4) knowing 
or in reckless disregard that the alien's coming to, 
entering, or residing in the United States is illegal.” 
United States v. Lopez, 590 F.3d 1238, 1250 (11th 
Cir.2009).FN15 
 

FN15. Section 1324(a)(1)(A)(iv) provides 
that any person who “encourages or induces 
an alien to come to, enter, or reside in the 
United States, knowing or in reckless disre-
gard of the fact that such coming to, entry, 
or residence is or will be in violation of law” 
shall be punished as provided in § 
1324(a)(1)(B). 8 U.S.C. § 1324(a)(1)(A)(iv). 

 
Where the violation of § 
1324(a)(1)(A)(iv) “was done for the pur-
pose of commercial advantage or private 
financial gain,” the defendant may “be 
fined under Title 18, imprisoned not more 
than 10 years, or both.” § 
1324(a)(1)(B)(i). Where the violation was 
not for pecuniary gain, a fine under Title 
18 is still possible, but the maximum term 
of imprisonment is 5 years. § 
1324(a)(1)(B)(ii). Subsection (B) also 
contains enhanced penalties where the 
violation causes serious bodily injury or 
places any person's life in jeopardy, see § 
1324(a)(1)(B)(iii), or causes death, see § 
1324(a)(1)(B)(iv). 

 
*1295  The only element the defendants contend 

has not been sufficiently pleaded is the first one, 
which is that the plaintiffs “encouraged or induced” 
illegal aliens to reside in this country. The district 
court concluded the plaintiffs had not pleaded that 
element even though they had alleged that the defen-
dants had knowingly supplied the aliens with jobs 
and with social security numbers to facilitate their 
employment. The court believed those alleged actions 
do not amount to encouragement or inducement for 
purposes of § 1324(a)(1)(A)(iv). See Edwards v. 
Prime, Inc., No. 08-1016, at 12-13 (N.D.Ala. Dec. 
11, 2008). We believe the district court was mistaken. 
 

This Court has given a broad interpretation to the 
phrase “encouraging or inducing” in this context, 
construing it to include the act of “helping” aliens 
come to, enter, or remain in the United States. See 
Lopez, 590 F.3d at 1249-51; United States v. Ndiaye, 
434 F.3d 1270, 1278 (11th Cir.2006); United States 
v. Kuku, 129 F.3d 1435, 1437 (11th Cir.1997). In 
Lopez we held that the district court had accurately 
presented the substantive law of § 1324(a)(1)(A)(iv) 
to the jury by informing it that the term “encourage” 
was defined as “to knowingly instigate, to incite to 
action, to give courage to, to inspirit, to embolden, to 
raise confidence, to help, to forward, and/or to ad-
vise.” Lopez, 590 F.3d at 1247; see also id. at 1249 
(citing similar dictionary definitions of “encourage” 
with approval). The defendant in that case had cap-
tained a boat to the Bahamas, refueled it, spent the 
night, picked up aliens from a hotel, and then driven 
the boat as it returned with the aliens towards the 
United States. Id. at 1252. This Court held that con-
duct was “more than adequate” to support a convic-
tion under § 1324(a)(1)(A)(iv). Id. 
 

Similarly, in Ndiaye this Court affirmed a defen-
dant's conviction under § 1324(a)(1)(A)(iv) for help-
ing one illegal alien fraudulently obtain a social secu-
rity number. 434 F.3d at 1296. The defendant con-
tended that the government “failed to show any ac-
tual, potential or perceived relationship between im-
migration status and receipt of a Social Security 
number.” Id. He argued “that while there may be 
some correlation between the issuance of Social Se-
curity numbers and aliens employed in the United 
States, the act of merely helping someone obtain a 
Social Security number cannot be construed as ‘en-
couraging or inducing’ them to reside in this country 
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in violation of the criminal statute.” Id. at 1297-98 
(emphasis added). We rejected that argument. Since 
the alien “was able to work in the United States be-
cause of the Social Security number he was issued,” 
we held that a reasonable “jury could have found that 
[the defendant] encouraged or induced an alien ... to 
reside in the United States, knowing it was in viola-
tion of the law.” Id. at 1298; see also id. (“A jury 
could find that [the defendant's] assistance in helping 
[an alien] obtain a Social Security card, which the 
evidence established he is not entitled to have, en-
couraged or induced*1296 him to reside in this coun-
try in violation of the statute.”). Consistent with that 
decision is Kuku in which we affirmed a conviction 
under § 1324(a)(1)(A)(iv) for fraudulently approving 
social security card applications that were filed on 
behalf of illegal aliens. 129 F.3d at 1437. Although 
the scope of § 1324(a)(1)(A)(iv) was not at issue in 
that case, we did recognize that social security num-
bers can be used “to apply for federal benefits, to 
attend school, and to obtain employment.” Id.; see 
also Ndiaye, 434 F.3d at 1298 (discussing Kuku). 
 

The district court in this case, without the benefit 
of either Lopez or Ndiaye,FN16 held that the amended 
complaint failed to allege a predicate act under § 
1324(a)(1)(A)(iv) because “mere employment” of 
illegal aliens is not enough to encourage or induce 
aliens to reside in the United States. The district court 
cited, and the defendants press, United States v. 
Khanani, 502 F.3d 1281, 1289 (11th Cir.2007), as 
support for that conclusion. The Khanani decision is 
fine as far as it goes, but it did not involve the addi-
tional, and under Ndiaye critical, fact of employer-
supplied social security numbers. 
 

FN16. The Lopez decision was published 
nine months after the district court issued its 
second memorandum opinion in this case. 
The Ndiaye decision is from 2006, but nei-
ther party cited it to the district court or in 
their initial briefs to this Court. After finding 
the decision, we gave the parties an oppor-
tunity to supplementally brief its application 
to this case. 

 
The amended complaint alleges not only that the 

defendants hired and actively sought out individuals 
known to be illegal aliens but also that the defendants 
provided them with names and social security num-
bers to facilitate their illegal employment. See Am. 

Complaint ¶ 34 (the defendants “provid[ed] known 
illegal aliens with names and Social Security num-
bers of American citizens to use in their illegal em-
ployment”); see also id. ¶ 26. 
 

Recognizing the striking similarity between 
Ndiaye and this case, the defendants have managed to 
come up with a number of proposed distinctions, but 
resourcefulness is one thing and persuasiveness is 
another. They contend that the amended complaint 
alleges only that the defendants knowingly encour-
aged or induced illegal aliens to work in the United 
States instead of encouraging or inducing them to 
“reside” here. According to them, the prospect of 
working at a particular restaurant (even a Ruth's 
Chris Steak House!) does not provide any realistic 
incentive for staying in this country. They insist that 
aliens could reside outside the United States and sim-
ply enter periodically as work is needed. That argu-
ment borders on the frivolous. As we held in Ndiaye, 
the act of knowingly providing illegal aliens with 
social security numbers can “encourage or induce” 
them to reside in this country. See Ndiaye, 434 F.3d 
at 1296-98 (noting, and later rejecting, the defen-
dant's argument that: “[w]hile many aliens used So-
cial Security numbers to secure employment while 
residing in the United States, those aliens had already 
entered the country ... and there was no evidence that 
anyone was ‘induced’ to live here by obtaining such a 
card”). The defendants' argument runs against the 
common sense knowledge that most illegal aliens, 
especially the ones who end up working here, come 
to this country for work. See Zheng, 306 F.3d at 1087 
(noting that one “primary reason” for illegal immi-
gration is “the chance of employment in the United 
States” (citation omitted)). Their ability to find and 
keep jobs depends to a considerable extent on im-
properly obtaining the necessary documentation.FN17 
 

FN17. At oral argument, defense counsel 
suggested that fraudulent social security 
numbers are unrelated to residency because 
some people, such as those with a student 
visa, are allowed to live in the United States 
even though they may not work here. When 
we suggested to counsel that at least some 
aliens would be encouraged to reside here if 
they had a social security number, she re-
plied: “That point I concede.” That conces-
sion, which she could hardly have avoided, 
is important because the amended complaint 
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was dismissed on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, 
and a RICO predicate act under § 
1324(a)(1)(A)(iv) can be stated if the defen-
dants knowingly encouraged or induced “an 
alien” to reside in the United States. 

 
*1297 Continuing to gnaw at the issue, the de-

fendants also argue that Ndiaye can be distinguished 
because it was a multi-defendant case involving a 
massive conspiracy to file false immigration docu-
ments with the Social Security Administration. See 
Ndiaye, 434 F.3d at 1277-78. They point out that the 
defendant in that case who was convicted under § 
1324(a)(1)(A)(iv) had helped more than 70 illegal 
aliens obtain social security numbers and cards. Id. at 
1278. But the number of aliens he helped was not 
material to our holding. The actual charge in that case 
was that the defendant encouraged or induced “one 
specific alien” to reside in the United States by help-
ing him fraudulently obtain a social security number. 
Id. at 1296. One or one hundred, it is all the same for 
purposes of this § 1324(a)(1)(A)(iv) “encouraging or 
inducing” issue. 
 

Scraping the bone, the defendants argue that the 
amended complaint does not allege that the aliens 
were in possession or even had knowledge of the 
social security numbers under which they were al-
lowed to work. At most, they suggest, the numbers 
were used for employment at Prime. They are wrong. 
The amended complaint alleges that Prime “even 
provided” the illegal alien employees with the names 
and social security numbers of former Ruth's Chris 
employees. Am. Complaint ¶ 26. Construing that 
allegation in the light most favorable to the plaintiffs, 
Prime gave the social security numbers to the illegal 
aliens, allowing them to use the numbers for the pur-
pose of getting and holding jobs. 
 

The meat of the matter is that the amended com-
plaint adequately pleads that the defendants encour-
aged or induced an alien to reside in the United 
States, and either knew or recklessly disregarded the 
fact that the alien's residence here was illegal, in vio-
lation of § 1324(a)(1)(A)(iv). It thereby states a 
predicate act of racketeering. And because the 
amended complaint also alleges that the defendants 
did that “far more times than two,” it adequately 
pleads the pattern of racketeering activity necessary 
to state a RICO claim. See Mohawk, 465 F.3d at 
1283; Cox, 17 F.3d at 1397. 

 
C. 

For the reasons we have just discussed, the plain-
tiffs are entitled to get past the Rule 12(b)(6) stage on 
their allegation of a § 1324(a)(1)(A)(iv) predicate act. 
That one theory may also be enough to get them past 
summary judgment and to a verdict, or it may not. 
Because we have no way of knowing what the evi-
dence will show about that theory of the case, and in 
the interests of completeness, we need to address the 
plaintiffs' other theories of racketeering. 
 

The first additional theory involves § 
1324(a)(1)(A)(iii), which makes it a crime for any 
person who: “knowing or in reckless disregard of the 
fact that an alien has come to, entered, or remains in 
the United States in violation of law, conceals, har-
bors, or shields from detection, or attempts to con-
ceal, harbor, or shield from detection, such alien....” 8 
U.S.C. § 1324(a)(1)(A)(iii). When viewed against the 
allegations of the amended complaint, *1298 the 
question presented by this theory of racketeering is 
whether knowingly providing an illegal alien with 
employment and a social security number is enough 
to constitute concealing, harboring, or shielding the 
alien from detection for § 1324(a)(1)(A)(iii) pur-
poses. 
 

The defendants argue that in Khanani we held 
that the knowing employment of an illegal alien is 
not enough by itself to violate § 1324(a)(1)(A)(iii). 
They point to this sentence in that opinion: “If 
Khanani merely had employed illegal aliens without 
‘knowingly’ encouraging or inducing them to reside 
in the United States, he would not have committed 
the elements of the offenses....” Khanani, 502 F.3d at 
1289 (emphasis added). That sentence is subject to 
interpretation, but a more important point about it for 
present purposes is signaled by the first word: “If.” 
The Khanani decision could not have established 
anything about what falls short of violating § 
1324(a)(1)(A)(iii). It could not have because in that 
case we actually held that there was a violation of the 
provision. A holding that X + Y is enough to violate a 
provision does not mean that X alone is not enough. 
And that is true even if we say in the opinion that X 
alone would not be enough. We have pointed out 
many times that regardless of what a court says in its 
opinion, the decision can hold nothing beyond the 
facts of that case. E.g., Watts v. BellSouth Tele-
comms., Inc., 316 F.3d 1203, 1207 (11th Cir.2003) 
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(“Whatever their opinions say, judicial decisions 
cannot make law beyond the facts of the cases in 
which those decisions are announced.”); United 
States v. Aguillard, 217 F.3d 1319, 1321 (11th 
Cir.2000) (“The holdings of a prior decision can 
reach only as far as the facts and circumstances pre-
sented to the Court in the case which produced that 
decision.” (quotation marks omitted)). All statements 
that go beyond the facts of the case-and sometimes, 
but not always, they begin with the word “if”-are 
dicta. See, e.g., United States v. Eggersdorf, 126 F.3d 
1318, 1322 n. 4 (11th Cir.1997) (“[L]anguage in ... 
[an opinion] not necessary to deciding the case then 
before us” is dicta); Moon v. Head, 285 F.3d 1301, 
1318 (11th Cir.2002) (Carnes, J., concurring) 
(“Those statements are dicta. They are dicta because 
they go beyond the facts of the [earlier] case it-
self....”). And dicta is not binding on anyone for any 
purpose. See, e.g., McNely v. Ocala Star-Banner 
Corp., 99 F.3d 1068, 1077 (11th Cir.1996) (“[W]e 
are not required to follow dicta contained in our own 
precedents ....”); Great Lakes Dredge & Dock Co. v. 
Tanker Robert Watt Miller, 957 F.2d 1575, 1578 
(11th Cir.1992) (because what is said in a prior opin-
ion about a question not presented there is dicta, and 
dicta is not binding precedent, a later panel is “free to 
give that question fresh consideration”). In any event, 
in Khanani the employer did not provide the illegal 
aliens with social security numbers and names; this 
employer allegedly did. Moreover, the Khanani opin-
ion did not consider the way that § 1324(a)(i)(A)(iii) 
had been revised over the years. 
 

The statutory evolution of § 1324(a)(i)(A)(iii) 
indicates that knowingly or recklessly hiring illegal 
aliens probably is enough by itself to constitute con-
cealing, harboring, or shielding from detection for 
purposes of the statute. See United States v. Kim, 193 
F.3d 567, 573-74 (2d Cir.1999) (explaining the evo-
lution of this provision); see also Zheng, 306 F.3d at 
1085 (citing Kim with approval). Section 1324(a) was 
enacted in 1952 and remained unchanged until 1986. 
The current version of § 1324(a)(1)(A)(iii) is nearly 
identical to the pre-1986 version, which provided that 
a person who “willfully or knowingly conceals, har-
bors, or shields from detection, or attempts to con-
ceal, harbor, or shield from detection [an illegal 
alien], in any *1299 place, including any building or 
any means of transportation,” is guilty of a felony. 8 
U.S.C. § 1324(a)(3) (1982); see also 8 U.S.C.A. § 
1324 note (West 2006). However, there is one impor-
tant difference for our purposes. The pre-1986 ver-

sion of § 1324(a) had also stated: “Provided, how-
ever, [t]hat for the purposes of this section, employ-
ment (including the usual and normal practices inci-
dent to employment) shall not be deemed to consti-
tute harboring.” 8 U.S.C. § 1324(a) (1982) (emphasis 
added). Significantly, Congress removed that excep-
tion when it revised the statute in 1986. See The Im-
migration Reform and Control Act of 1986, Pub.L. 
No. 99-603, § 112(a), 100 Stat. 3359, 3381-82 
(1986). The Second Circuit pointed out that “after the 
1986 amendment, § 1324 no longer excluded em-
ployment from the prohibition against harboring.” 
Kim, 193 F.3d at 574. That observation led that court 
to conclude that “[t]he present version of § 1324, 
which is sufficiently broad on its face to encompass 
the knowing or reckless harboring of illegal aliens by 
employers, was plainly intended to have that 
breadth.” Id. 
 

We tend to agree with the Second Circuit that the 
revision history of § 1324(a)(1)(A)(iii) strongly indi-
cates that one who hires an alien knowing or reck-
lessly disregarding his illegal status is guilty of con-
cealing, harboring, or shielding from detection. See 
Zheng, 306 F.3d at 1086-87 (taking the revision his-
tory of § 1324 into account when deciding a related 
issue). As we have explained, “changes in statutory 
language generally indicate an intent to change the 
meaning of the statute.” DIRECTV, Inc. v. Brown, 
371 F.3d 814, 817 (11th Cir.2004) (quotation marks 
and alterations omitted); see also Rumsfeld v. Forum 
for Academic & Institutional Rights, Inc., 547 U.S. 
47, 57-58, 126 S.Ct. 1297, 1306, 164 L.Ed.2d 156 
(2006) (“We refuse to interpret the [statute] in a way 
that negates its recent revision, and indeed would 
render it a largely meaningless exercise.”); Heintz v. 
Jenkins, 514 U.S. 291, 294, 115 S.Ct. 1489, 1490-91, 
131 L.Ed.2d 395 (1995) (stating that a “rather strong 
reason[ ] for believing that the Act applies” to a par-
ticular group is the fact that an express exemption for 
the group had existed in the prior enacted version of 
the statute, but “Congress repealed [that] exemption 
in its entirety”); Snapper, Inc. v. Redan, 171 F.3d 
1249, 1257-58 (11th Cir.1999) (examining the previ-
ous enacted versions of a statute as an aid to inter-
preting the current version). 
 

As strongly as the revision history indicates it, 
however, we need not decide whether knowingly 
employing illegal aliens alone is enough. Here the 
allegations are that the defendants not only know-
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ingly employed illegal aliens, but also that they pro-
vided them with social security numbers and names, 
and paid them in cash in order to conceal, harbor, and 
shield the aliens from detection. See United States v. 
Shum, 496 F.3d 390, 392 (5th Cir.2007) (characteriz-
ing proof that the defendant had provided false iden-
tification to illegal alien employees and failed to file 
their social security paperwork as “ample evidence” 
that he had taken “steps that would shield their identi-
ties from detection by the government”); Kim, 193 
F.3d at 574-75 (finding sufficient evidence to support 
conviction for harboring where the defendant took 
steps designed to help the illegal alien employee re-
main undetected); see also United States v. Ye, 588 
F.3d 411, 417 (7th Cir.2009) (recognizing that gov-
ernment detection of illegal aliens becomes more 
difficult when an employer intentionally fails to keep 
accurate employment records for its illegal workers 
and pays them in cash). That is enough to state a vio-
lation of § 1324(a)(1)(A)(iii). And, as we mentioned 
earlier, a violation of that provision*1300 is a predi-
cate act for civil RICO purposes. 
 

D. 
The next predicate act alleged in the amended 

complaint is a violation of § 1324(a)(1)(A)(v), which 
makes it a federal crime to “engage[ ] in any conspir-
acy to commit any of the preceding acts [those in § 
1324(a)(1)(A)(i)-(iv)], or aid[ ] or abet[ ] the com-
mission of any of the preceding acts.” 8 U.S.C. § 
1324(a)(1)(A)(v). The amended complaint says the 
defendants violated that provision “by engaging in 
conspiracies to commit, and aiding and abetting oth-
ers to commit, the preceding violations [of §§ 
1324(a)(1)(A)(iii) and (iv)].” Am. Complaint ¶ 34c. 
The district court concluded that the amended com-
plaint did not plead a predicate act under § 
1324(a)(1)(A)(v) because it failed to describe any 
substantive violations of §§ 1324(a)(1)(A)(iii) and 
(iv). The district court also found the allegation was 
conclusory and therefore insufficient under Twombly. 
 

We have already concluded that the amended 
complaint does adequately plead a pattern of racket-
eering activity. We agree, however, with the district 
court that the conspiracy and aiding and abetting al-
legations do not pass muster under Twombly. The 
mere use of the words “conspiracy” and “aiding and 
abetting” without any more explanation of the 
grounds of the plaintiffs' entitlement to relief is insuf-
ficient. See Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555, 127 S.Ct. at 

1964-65; Sinaltrainal, 578 F.3d at 1261. For that 
reason, we leave intact the district court's ruling that 
the allegations in the amended complaint involving 
1324(a)(1)(A)(v) do not state a predicate act. That's 
the end of our RICO discussion. 

* * * * 
VIII. 

We REVERSE the district court's dismissal of 
Count 1 of the amended complaint and AFFIRM its 
dismissal of Counts 7, 8, and 12. We DISMISS the 
appeal for lack of appellate jurisdiction insofar as it 
concerns any other claims or rulings. 
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